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No UNDERTAKINGS WERE FILED IN THIS PROCEEDING.

Friday, May 21, 2021
--- On commencing at 9:34 a.m.

MS. DUFF:  Good morning, everyone.  My name is Allison Duff, and I'll be presiding over this meeting today.  With me on the Panel are my fellow Commissioners, Mr. Pankaj Sardana and Mr. Michael Janigan.  The Ontario Energy Board is sitting today on a matter of an application filed by Ontario Power Generation Inc.  This application has been assigned case number EB-2020-0290.  Today is motions day.  And pursuant to Procedural Order No. 1, parties have filed letters with the OEB indicating their intent to participate today.  The purpose of motions day is to identify questions for which parties want an answer yet OPG has not provided.  These questions have been previously asked in the form of a written interrogatory or an oral question at the technical conference.  Today the Panel will hear submissions regarding these motions in order to make a decision.  The Panel may also ask questions to clarify its understanding of the motion, and it's our expectation that we will issue a written decision next week.

Late yesterday our hearing advisor Lillian Ing distributed a schedule for today naming the four parties that had filed motions and the questions for which they want OPG to answer.  There are no time slots on the schedule, but it is our intention to have two 10-minute breaks in the morning, a one-hour lunch, and afternoon breaks if necessary.

The Panel issued a decision with an approved issues list yesterday as well.  If there are updates to the motions as a result of the issues list or for any other reason, the Panel would appreciate if the parties would address that as a preliminary matter.

I will now take appearances, starting with OPG.


Appearances:


MR. SMITH:  Good morning, members of the Panel.  My name is Crawford Smith.  I appear this morning as counsel for OPG.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  Is Mr. Kent Elson on the line?

MR. ELSON:  Good morning.  Kent Elson for Environmental Defence.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Elson.  Mr. Anderson for AMPCO?

MR. ANDERSON:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Commissioners Sardana and Janigan.  I am representing AMPCO this morning, but my colleague, Shelley Grice, will probably be doing most of the heavy lifting.  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Anderson.  SEC.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, members of the Panel.  Mark Rubenstein, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MS. DUFF:  Good morning, Mr. Rubenstein.  And OEB Staff also filed a motion.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Michael Millar, counsel for OEB Staff.  Mr. Ian Richler is with me today and Mr. Lawrie Gluck, and of course Ms. Ing.

MS. DUFF:  Are there any other parties in attendance today that intend to participate?  Please if you can put your camera on and indicate that so that you can be identified.  Seeing none, perhaps we can put the schedule up on the screen.  And while that's being done, we will look at preliminary matters.


Preliminary Matters:


MS. DUFF:  As I addressed in my opening comments, I just wanted to know if there were any updates to the motions as they were filed with the OEB.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, Madam Chair.  It may be appropriate for me to go down the list.  There are a number of questions that are not going to be proceeding today.

MS. DUFF:  And just before you do, perhaps -- yeah, that's exactly it.  If you can just expand.  Thank you very much.  Please proceed, Mr. Smith.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  So the questions that will not be proceeding, Environmental Defence, which we have agreed to answer, is not proceeding.

MS. DUFF:  Can I ask a question about that?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  You've agreed to answer it.  Is there a specific time frame regarding the answer to that question?

MR. SMITH:  I know it's hard at work.  And I know that we will have it before the settlement conference.

MS. DUFF:  That wasn't -- sorry, I didn't phrase my question properly.  Was it related to specific years of operation?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, 2018 and 2019, I believe.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you for that clarification.  Okay.  Please proceed.

MR. SMITH:  SEC -- SEC question relating to the economic protocols for PGS pumping.

MS. DUFF:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  As well as SEC question 154, which -- let me just explain.  We will be answering the economic protocols for PGS pumping.  I understand that SEC is not pursuing today an answer to question 154.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you for that clarification.

MR. SMITH:  AMPCO question 159C.  AMPCO is not pursuing an answer to that question today.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  And OPG has agreed to provide answers to technical conference undertakings 1 through 4.

MS. DUFF:  So we won't be addressing those?

MR. SMITH:  No, we will not be.  There is a -- let me just indicate in relation to the staff questions, those were questions that were asked by the Society, parts J and L, which we will be answering, and I just will make a comment about that in a minute.  We will be answering, as well as a question from staff at the confidential technical conference portion, page 108, which we will also be answering, and --


MS. DUFF:  You mentioned the Society J and L.  Is that Society 007, that interrogatory?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, sorry, my apologies.  Thank you for that clarification, yes.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.

MR. SMITH:  So we will be providing the information sought in those questions, and just so that members of the Panel have our position in relation to that, that is, of course, while reserving our right to make whatever argument we want to make if appropriate, depending on what people say, obviously, about the use to which information in those answers can be put.  So you'll recall, members of the Panel, that those are questions that relate to the sale of particular assets.  And to the extent parties take a position in argument in relation to those, OPG obviously is reserving its right to take a contrary position in relation to that.

So we're not objecting today to the production of the information.  We're saying we're going to produce the information, and we're obviously reserving our right to say later that the proceeds from the sale of those assets should be -- should remain with the shareholder.

That covers that portion of it, subject to one additional wrinkle in relation to that.  So in the normal course I would have said there's no reason for us to have a discussion today about the answers to those questions because we're providing answers to those questions.  I understand that my friend Mr. Millar may take the position that the sale of those assets -- the Board should consider the potential disposition of those both in relation to the test period, so from January 1, 2022 onwards, and prior to the test period.  So before the end of this year.  And that's an issue that we disagree with.

And so to the extent we need to we may have to have a discussion today about, I would say, that one limited aspect of those questions.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  What I was planning to do was just to confirm what you've said with each party as it relates to the motion that they had brought forward to the Board.  

Starting with Environmental Defence, Mr. Kent, are you in agreement with the description that Mr. Smith provided and you will no longer be pursuing the motion today?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.  My understanding is they will be answering our question, so there is no need to pursue the motion.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Elson.  Ms. Grice or Mr. Anderson, I just want to confirm -- I'm out of order, but okay.  AMPCO, perhaps I'll just do that next.

So you'll be pursuing today 89 C, AMPCO 100, AMPCO 101, and your comments today will be limited to those three interrogatories that you posed?

MS. GRICE:  Yes, that's correct, thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Ms. Grice.  SEC, Mr. Rubenstein, sorry I got out of order there.  To confirm, I'll repeat what I think I heard today.  SEC will be pursuing SEC number 8, SEC number 13, SEC number 46; those were all interrogatories.  In addition, you'll be pursuing questions related to OPG's 2018 to 2021 business plan, and you'll be pursuing questions related to the 2021 hydroelectric costs.  Is my understanding correct?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Millar for OEB Staff?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Madam Chair.  I think Mr. Smith has described it accurately.  We sort of have resolution to part of the issue, but there is still a wrinkle that needs to be discussed.  So we will need some of your time.

MS. DUFF:  Is this discussion or you'll need some of our time.  We'll be issuing a decision on the motion.  Could this be something that relates to a scope clarification for the Board's attention for the proceeding?

MR. MILLAR:  To some extent, perhaps.  You will recall Board Staff originally was raising this issue as part of the issues day, and then we agreed to bump it to today.

So there is a overlap between what's in scope and then the prospected motions on the particular questions.

Mr. Smith has helpfully agreed to answer the questions that have been put to OPG.  So that -- that certainly makes life easier for everyone.  But there is still the lingering question of what happens to the extent there is a disposition of these assets prior to 2022, and that's what we still wish to discuss with you.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  I appreciate that we're deferring issue to today.  We're not dealing with at issues day.  If there's overlap, that's fine.  I just want to make sure the Board understood what it's being asked to turn its mind to today.

Okay.  With that, we'll proceed.  My intention is the party that moved, provided the motion would go first.  OPG would have the opportunity to respond to that and provide submissions, and then it would go back to the moving party for any reply to any new issues that have been raised. So starting with SEC, Mr. Rubenstein?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Can you hear me?

MS. DUFF:  Loud and clear.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.

MS. DUFF:  I would like to do each question separately, okay.  Unless you see that there's some commonality that you would like to deal with perhaps two of the interrogatories together so -- do you understand?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I think it would be helpful.  So four of the five either IRs or technical comments relate to the same general issues.  So I think it would be helpful, and assume my friend's objections will all be similar, so it may make sense to deal with all those at once and then deal with the -- essentially, there's a number of issues that relate to hydroelectric related matters.  I think it's helpful to deal with them all at once, and then the business plan issue separately because the grounds are very different.

MS. DUFF:  It's your motion.  If you think that would be efficient, then proceed on that basis.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm in your hands.  I have provided a compendium, so we have all the documents in one place so it's easy for the OPG screen operator to move between them more efficiently.  I was wondering if that can be brought up.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, I suggest we give this an exhibit number.  That will be KM1.1.  
EXHIBIT NO. KM1.1:  SCHOOL ENERGY COALITION COMPENDIUM

SEC MOTIONS

Submissions by Mr. Rubenstein:


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Let me start with some general comments, and this is related to the four hydroelectric issues.  This is interrogatory SEC 8, SEC 13, SEC 46, and the refusal at the technical conference transcript day at two, page 167, which has been labelled "2021 Hydroelectric Costs."


I think all of those issues relate to hydroelectric issues, so I will deal with them all at once.  I will make general comments, and then walk through each of the individual interrogatories.

All of the issues, in our view, all the questions asked and refusals relate to OPG's hydroelectric costs and they relevant to the Board's new issue 2.2, which was added to the issues list in its decision yesterday.  And that issue being is it appropriate to establish an earning sharing mechanism or similar type of mechanism for 2022 to 2026.

If we go to page 8 of the compendium, this is from the Board's issues list.  The Board makes the following comments and findings in its decision.  It says:

"SEC questioned whether the government, with its regulation, intended to 'bake into rates' excess earnings for hydroelectric generation for the next five years.  The OEB finds that to the extent that OPG's hydroelectric payment amounts result in excess earnings, there are other mechanisms that can be explored as part of the current proceeding to address any concerns related to potential overearnings within the proposed 2022 to 2026 period.  For instance, there was some discussion at the hearing of an earnings sharing mechanism for the entire regulated business (nuclear and hydroelectric), or an overearnings variance account like the one currently in place for 2021."


And then the Board adds the new issue.


The question from our point of view is, then, what is the likely to be overearnings with respect to the hydroelectric facilities over the 2022 to 2026 period.  And to understand that, we should -- in our view, what's relevant is to look at what could potentially happen in the future and their magnitude, and that involves a look at some previous performance, so we have an understanding of the trending with respect to hydroelectric costs.

That can help us understand the future and then certain information we've asked directly goes to sort of forecast for the 2022 to 2026 period.

In our view, each of the disputed IR or the technical conference that I have referenced get to that issue.  

SEC does not see any of the questions to be very controversial.  In fact, in our view, they're clearly relevant to the issue of 2.2 and honestly, my friends have stuck to the position after the issues list decision that they resist providing them.

Let me walk through each of the interrogatories specifically.  If we can go to page 23 of the compendium, this is SEC 8.

In this interrogatory, we asked:  "Please describe the nature of the", quote, "'higher fuel costs' attributable to hydroelectric generation, and the amounts of the increase in 2019."


Just stopping there to understand what's being quoted here, if we can flip the page to page 24 of the compendium, the reference comes out of the 2020 OPG scorecard MD&A for its regulated hydro facilities performance measures.  And this is with respect to the Board's requirement to provide essentially metrics and scorecard, and the MD&A provides explanations of changes.

If we can go to page 26 of the compendium, the bottom of page 26, the question specifically references -- is in reference to this, where they're talking about changes in the regulated facilities total generation costs per megawatt-hour, and OPG mentions that its "performance metrics has increased by 3 percent from $23.40 per megawatt-hour in 2018 to $24.10 per megawatt-hour in 2019", and:

"the increase is attributed to capital investments to enhance dam safety, address end of life assets, and higher fuel costs, partially offset by increased production.  Sustaining capital investments are required to support improving OPG's aging hydroelectric fleet's operation, reliability and safety."


So we sought to understand what exactly is meant by higher fuel costs here because we're talking about hydroelectric facilities, not nuclear facilities.  We simply didn't understand what exactly OPG meant by this, and so we asked the interrogatory.

And OPG, in its response, points us to Energy Probe 1, which is at page 27 of the compendium, where essentially it provides a boiler-plate refusal on the basis of -- declining to provide on the basis of relevance and the Ontario Regulation 53/05 that freezes the hydroelectric payments.  So that's what -- they provided for lots of hydroelectric payment questions.  

But in our view the question is relevant in the context of 2.2 that the Board has put on the public record.  It helps us understand what is the changing and the cost structure of OPG on a per megawatt-hour basis.  And to be frank, I would -- and so that's obviously relevant to ask you, but I think it is also, the Board requires OPG to provide scorecard and explanations and file this information in the -- in its evidence regardless of issue 2.2, and I think asking a simple clarification question about what is meant by a comment that it made in that is something that is clearly relevant to the Board's understanding and, to be honest, in our view a pretty innocuous IR to ask, and we were quite surprised that it would have been refused.  We think it's just important that the Board understands what is the rise of the costs sort of in a general sense, but obviously directly related to issue 2.2.  We think that it is clearly relevant.  It is obviously not onerous for OPG to provide a response to that interrogatory.

The next is if we go to SEC 13, and that is located at page 28.  And so in this interrogatory we had asked them to provide the forecast net income attributable to OPG's regulated business, separated by hydroelectric and nuclear, for each -- it should say each year between 2020 and 2026.

And the response from OPG was:

"OPG does not track or report net income separately for the regulated facility."


So we followed up on this interrogatory at the technical conference -- so just before I get there, just back up what the reference is to, is in OPG's business plan -- this is 2020 to 2026 business plan, and you see this on page 29 of the compendium.  And it's essentially highly redacted because, as I understand, it's on a full corporate-wide basis, not just on a regulated basis, so it is a sort of board-eyes-only documentation.  And OPG, as you can see, is forecasting -- it talks about how it's forecasting, and I assume that's what the chart provides in greater detail, that it's forecasting its per year net income for the company as a whole, so we had asked in the interrogatory if you would provide the net income forecast for 2020 to 2026 on a regulated basis, broken down by hydroelectric and nuclear.  And so there was the response, as I had mentioned.

And then we followed up -- Mr. Shepherd followed up at the technical conference -- you can see this on page 30, beginning on page 31 of the compendium.  This is day 3 of the technical conference.  Go to page 31 of the compendium.  You can see if we go down to line 23, go down -- oh, sorry, at line 23 you can see that the interrogatory is followed up, and as we flip to -- and there's a discussion about why the information is not available and why do they not have 

-- could they not break down the forecast net income into the regulated and unregulated portion, and then for the purposes of the interrogatory for hydroelectric and nuclear.  And if we flip to the next page, Mr. Kogan mentions:

"The information is available in our business plan.  This would be on an accounting basis, not a regulated basis."

And again, I'm sort of wondering from a hydroelectric perspective how this applies.  You can see this on page -- at line 20, Mr. Smith objects because it relates to hydroelectric issues, and Mr. Shepherd says:

"Is this in the business plan, this information?  I didn't find it."

Mr. Kogan said:

"This information is not in the business plan document, no, it is not."

And Mr. Shepherd says at line 26:

"But you have the information."

And Mr. Kogan says:

"Within the models that underlie our business plan we are able to estimate this information; that's correct."

Mr. Shepherd says:

"But you're refusing to provide it?"

Mr. Smith says:

"We're refusing to provide it in relation to the regulated hydroelectric facilities."

So going back to the interrogatory, they do have the information, so as clarified by this technical conference question where they say that they are unable to provide the forecast net income attributable to OPG's regulated business separated by hydroelectric, the technical conference is clear in Mr. Kogan's comments in that they actually are able do that.  It's not in the business plan, but they have the underlying information that I guess built up to that and they can provide it.

So I understand the objection is really -- that comes from the technical conference is that, well, it relates to hydroelectric, and so that's why we're not providing it, and I would say, similar to my comments with respect to SEC 8 and my general comments, we would say that looking at the net income -- the forecast net income from hydroelectric clearly goes to the question about the need or should there be an earnings sharing mechanism or similar mechanism that's put in place for the 2022-2026 which would cover hydroelectric -- the hydroelectric regulated business.

Understanding the forecast net income for the regulated hydroelectric that underpins the business plan itself for the 2022 to 2026 period is important.  We're trying to have a better understanding of what hydroelectric's costs are, and this is information that helps us understand what the net income, essentially the profitability of the hydroelectric business will be over that period, and obviously this is information that they have forecasted themselves, the information, as we saw from the technical conference transcripts, Mr. Kogan, it exists and it builds up to that plan, and we think that's relevant to the interrogatory.  

It's also relevant to the question about, should there be separate mechanisms that may need to be put into place for the hydro -- for an earnings sharing mechanism for hydroelectric as compared to nuclear, and there was a discussion, and it's referenced in the issues list, about, should there be earnings sharings on a corporate-wide basis or sort of on a regulated basis, or on a technology, hydroelectric or nuclear basis, and that's referenced in the issues list.  We would say that this helps us understand the difference potentially between the -- essentially the profitability of the nuclear business against the hydroelectric business forecast.  I think that would help illuminate the Board and parties' understanding and their arguments for the exploration of if an earnings sharing mechanism is appropriate or otherwise.  

We say this issue is clearly relevant.  It's obviously information that they have.  It's obvious -- in our view, there is no grounds, considering the Board's adding issue 2.2 to the issues list that it's relevant.

We can go now to page 34 of the compendium.  This is SEC 46.  So SEC 46 asked to confirm that the actual cost of interest on long-term debt applicable to the regulated hydroelectric facilities for the period 2022 to '26 is forecast to be approximately $130 million lower than the interest cost embedded in rates for that period.  And the information derives out of the cost of capital information which OPG has provided on a full regulated basis, because it's seeking to change the capital structure.


OPG's response is that it declines, and it has its -- essentially its boilerplate response here that it's not relevant because of O.Reg. 53/05 that's freezing the base hydroelectric rates for the 2022 to 2026 period.

As we reference in our letter -- and I won't take you to -- there's a reference in our letter.  We -- this is technical -- there's discussion at the technical conference transcripts, which I've included at page 36 and 37.  I won't take you to that.  But it appears to us that the debt costs of the company are going down.  And the question is asking with a specific number that we were able to look at and derive from the reference in the evidence that, at least with respect to hydroelectric payments there, are approximately 130 million -- they expect to be over that period of time $130 million lower than the interest costs that were embedded in rates when they were last rebased and will be -- continue to be embedded in the base rates.  And this to us is clearly relevant information to understanding of an earnings sharing mechanism, should the Board approve one or some similar mechanism as it relates to the hydroelectric facilities, which the Board has deemed in scope, and is not precluded by the specific provisions of O.Reg. 53/05.

Understanding of its -- OPG's cost structure is materially lower here with respect to its interest costs, is that what is embedded in rates clearly goes to the potential that it will overearn and the Board should put in some form of a ratepayer protection mechanism through an earnings sharing or other mechanism, and understanding the scope and what the issues are clearly is evidence that the parties could put to the Board to determine what that should look like and if it's appropriate.

And if we can go to page 41.  So this is the technical conference question which I think has been for named the "2021 hydroelectric costs."  Just to give a little bit of background here what the question was, and the question is at line 11 where Mr. Shepherd asks:
"Am I right that we can expect that 2021 numbers, in terms of earnings before interest and interest taxes and earnings after interest, will be relatively better than these ones, assuming similar generation?"


Just to give you some background of what's being addressed here.  This was in the context of a long discussion that Mr. Shepherd had with OPG about its 2019 and 2020 regulated hydroelectric results, which come from page 60 of its MD&A from its 2020 financial statements.  It's not in the, I haven't put in the compendium, but just for your interest, it comes from Staff 50 and attachment 1 is the interrogatory where the latest, the 2020 financial statements were provided.

And the discussion they were having was related to the part of the MD&A which looks at regulated hydroelectric generation, and compares the 2020 results compared to 2019.  And Mr. Shepherd was asking that, as it appears the 2020 numbers look better than 2019 numbers, do we expect essentially that to be the case even more so in 2021.  If you look at interest before -- sorry, earnings before interest and income taxes and earning after interest, will they be relatively better than those ones, that being 2019 and 2020, assuming similar generation.  

And OPG again refused to provide it, as I understand it, similarly because it involves questions about hydroelectric facilities.

Now, in the discussion we had framed this at the time related to the proposed -- when the discussion happened between Mr. Shepherd and Mr. Smith at the tech conference related to the proposed issue regarding changing rates pre-December 31st, 2021.

But as noted in our motion letter, the relevance is similar and more important to the issue about the potential earnings sharing mechanism which the Board has put now on the issues list, and determined that it is an issue that it is interested in hearing submissions and evidence on.

Again, the information we're seeking is relevant to that issue.  Clearly understanding the trend in the earnings numbers expected in 2020 helps the Board understand what the hydroelectric -- the regulated hydroelectric financial situation will be going forward, understanding the trends on a going-forward basis taking a look at the expectation is in 2021.  And that goes to the need for a potential earnings sharing or similar other mechanism which the Board envisioned is at issue in issue 2021.

Questions asked about the performance in 2021 compared to those years, in our view, is clearly relevant.

So let me just finally say with respect to this grouping of issues, obviously the Board has determined that the O.Reg. -- the provisions of freezing base rates does not preclude -- in O.Reg. 53/05 does not preclude the Board to look at potentially, as the Board determined on the issues list, creating potentially an earnings sharing mechanism or other account -- creating a new account, and all the questions that we've asked go towards that issue, helping to understand OPG's hydroelectric business's financial position cost structure, and in the case of the net income questions, actual forecasts net income for those periods to help provide evidence so the parties have evidence and the Board can have a better, more informed debate.

While the issue is on the issues list, the parties can obviously make whatever argument -- as the Board notes in its own letter, it's obviously by putting the issue, it's not taking a position that the earning sharing mechanism, or what other type of mechanism may be put in place, they're not signalling -- the Panel makes -- you make very clear in your decision that you're not signalling it is appropriate or not.  It's just obviously an issue and that's fully appropriate.  And obviously parties then want evidence they can muster to provide, to show the Board and to understand the issue to determine, first of all, if it's in our view it is appropriate from a ratepayers perspective should an earnings sharing mechanism be put in place or some other, and as well to try to convince the Board and without any information, it's very hard do this.

These questions are not onerous to provide, and they are clearly relevant to those issues.  And we would say that the Board should declare them relevant and require OPG to provide answers to these questions.

Those are my submissions on these four issues.  I have separate submissions on the business plan, but that is related to a different issue.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.  Just to understand, we will ask Mr. Smith to respond to your comments related to these four -- three interrogatories, and then we will go later to your submissions regarding the business plan.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That is my understanding of how the Panel would like to proceed, and that's fine.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  Mr. Smith?
Submissions by Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.  Let me address the questions that my friend has raised as follows.

As my friend fairly indicated in his correspondence, these questions were asked ostensibly or are necessary for two reasons.  The first was in relation to the position of a proposed base rate adjustment.  And the second, my friend indicated in his correspondence that they related to the issue of an earnings sharing mechanism.

I say that it's clear from the transcript, including the portion of the transcript that my friend took you to, that it was the first of the two reasons that were articulated in my friend's letter that was driving these questions, and not the second.

And you see that if you have my friend's compendium brought up, the SEC compendium, you can see that clearly at page 41 of that compendium.  So if you can pull that up, this was the discussion we had with Mr. Shepherd and you'll see beginning at line 18, the footing upon which these questions were asked was in relation to an issue that SEC was then putting forward about whether or not there should be an adjustment to base rates prior to the end of 2021.

And I say that the earnings sharing mechanism did not form part of the justification for these questions and respectfully, does not provide a basis for those questions.  And I say that as a matter of principle.  And it really comes down to two submissions.  The first is the Board does not establish or create earnings sharing mechanisms where there is an anticipated variance from a forecast actual.

And that is what my friend's questions are getting at.  And you see it most clearly in relation to questions 13 and 46.

So if you look at question 46, which is at page 34 of the compendium, that is a question asking about a potential discrepancy between the actual cost of interest and the amount embedded in rates for 2022 and 2026.  And of course in the normal course, the Board would never establish an earnings sharing mechanism on the basis of this kind of information.  If in the normal course, the Board were persuaded that the applicant's forecast was too high or too low, it would adjust the revenue requirement to account for that.

And that's how these sorts of discrepancies are dealt with.  The Board doesn't say you're forecast to overearn and therefore we're going to allow you to overearn.  On the contrary, there's an adjustment of base rates and may or may not be an earnings sharing mechanism and there will be a discussion of the parameters of that earnings sharing mechanism.  And that's the way it's done, respectfully.

And what my friends are doing when you look at the questions is they're arguing for a departure from that normal approach, and we say completely unjustifiably.

The second point is not only does the Board not establish earnings sharing mechanisms on the basis of a potential forecast departure from the amounts embedded in rates, but it certainly doesn't do so on the basis of what I would describe as a -- and I don't mean this pejoratively, but a cherry-picked or curated list of items.

And so my friends have zeroed in in this interrogatory, for example, interrogatory 46, and focused on the long-term debt cost.  And their submission is basically, you've asked this question.  There appears to be a departure from the amount embedded in rates.  It doesn't look like it should be hard to confirm it; therefore, what's the problem?

But they're not asking, nor should they be asking, nor, in my respectful submission, would the Board want them to ask for an exploration of a potential departure in the future over the test period between all of the amounts embedded in rates and what they may be in the future because, in my respectful submission, if this question is relevant to whether or not the Board should establish an earnings sharing mechanism, then any question related to any line item about an amount that's embedded in rates and what's expected to happen to that between the period 2022 and 2026 would similarly be relevant.

And respectfully, I don't think that that's a good use of the Board's valuable hearing time, I don't think it's necessary to a debate about whether or not there should be an earnings sharing mechanism or the parameters of that, and I am concerned that if questions like this are relevant, that hearing time will be wasted on similar explorations.  And frankly, it may need to be, because if this is the basis upon which SEC wants to put its request, there may well be countervailing points, and we would have to lead that evidence.  Of course, we hadn't planned on having a hydro panel, and we may not have a hydro panel, but I am concerned about scope creep and using this sort of question as a basis for the request.

As a final matter I just want it to be clear for the record that the questions relating to net income that my friend took you to, those were not questions -- Mr. Shepherd was not asking about net income per se.  He was asking about income before, I believe, interest and taxes.

So I stand by all of my submissions, but I don't want it to be taken that OPG was saying that we separately track net income.  That's not what that exchange goes to.  It was a -- it was a different question.

Could net income be determined or estimated?  It may well be possible.  I'm not saying otherwise.  But certainly, in my respectful submission, none of this really goes to whether or not the Board should establish an earnings sharing mechanism, which it does or does not do on a regular basis as a matter of policy when it renders its decisions.

And I would say as well as a final matter, the Board also has available to it information from OPG's triple R filings, which, to the extent information is required, that information is available.

Those are my submissions on these questions.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  Mr. Rubenstein, I'm looking at the time.  Did you want to go next right away or would you appreciate a break at this juncture?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm okay.  I can go now.  I'm fine.

MS. DUFF:  Then please proceed.
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MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Let me just start off by saying this.  Mr. Smith's submissions about the scope of the earnings sharing is essentially his final argument in this case.  His argument was, this is what in our view an earnings sharing mechanism is supposed to be about.  It's not about, you know, forecast variances, it's to protect the forecast variance -- I mean, I would -- I disagree with that, but that's his submissions.

Moreover, he made submissions about how, you know, the Board doesn't put in place earnings sharing mechanisms because it necessarily expects some sort of overearning; it adjusts base payment amounts, which is -- or base rates.  That's what he essentially said.  That's fine for a final argument submission for him to make, but this is not where we are in the proceeding.  We're at the motions day regarding what is relevant to the exploration of an issue.

And so while I don't agree with his final position just sort of as a general view of what is relevant -- sorry, what considerations the Board should consider when it makes its final decision to -- if it's going to approve an earnings sharing mechanism or not, I would submit to you that is a proper explanation for discussion in the argument stage of this proceeding, not at this phase of this part of this proceeding.  That would be the first thing I would have to say, because I don't agree with him.  

In fact, with respect to the issue about adjusting base payment amounts and earnings sharing, if you go back to the issues list -- and I quoted from this at the beginning of my submissions -- the Board essentially says when SE -- in response to SEC's issue, the first issue that it proposed about adjusting the base rates, as I read the Board's decision, it says, well, we're not going to approve that issue because there are other ways to potentially deal with this issue, and that is through possibly the creation of an earnings sharing mechanism or similar -- a similar account.

So it's not as if the Board could do nothing or has signalled it will do nothing.  Obviously has put issue 2.2.  We're trying to marshal some evidence to determine, well, is there going to potentially be an overearning?  In fact, it's telling my friends don't deny -- seem to not even deny that that's likely to occur.  And we have provided specific parts of the evidence, in our view, and specific questions that goes to that issue.

My friend also says, look, you know, if you allow these essentially four pieces of question -- four pieces of information on the record, then anything with respect to hydroelectric payments is in, and we're going to be taking up the entire hearing with that.

With all due respect, the discovery period is for at least OPG outside of the hearing, ends with this Board's decision.  We've already had the technical conference.  The parties didn't ask for all sorts of information.  Asked for some targeted questions that were asked, and I don't think that it is likely that there is going to be -- we're going to spend significant portions of the hearing time -- I mean, the Board has set a limited amount of hearing time and parties will have to divvy it up as it sees fit to deal with the various issues, so I don't think that's likely.  


And moreover, you know, I have faith in the Board Panel being able to control the hearing appropriately, and I don't think that's a reason to deny the production of this clearly relevant information.  

In fact, my friend didn't go through any -- through the specific amounts in any of the specific IRs and say, well, this information isn't relevant to the sort of specific issue.  It's essentially a global question about the purpose of an earnings sharing mechanism, which I don't agree with.  An earnings sharing mechanism specifically exactly deals with the expected variances and costs is what you put in place.  It's -- essentially an earnings sharing mechanism is a variance account.

In addition, the Board has signalled that there's a potential overearning and that the way -- there are ways to deal with that and earnings sharing mechanisms are similar variance accounts, and parties are trying to marshal relevant evidence that gets to that point.

Lastly, my friend talked specifically about -- I believe he was talking about the net income and, you know, referencing the technical conference transcript, and that OPG wasn't specifically talking about net income.  I'm not sure that's entirely correct, but I think his concession was that they likely are able to provide the response to SEC 16, even if the technical conference -- there may be some misunderstanding about what was addressed in some of Mr. Kogan's comments to Mr. Shepherd.  I think his own answer goes to that issue that there is likely to be able to provide a forecast of net income on a forecast period, that's likely because obviously had to build up the building blocks to get to sort of the global net income forecast that he provided in the evidence.

And those are my submissions on these interrogatories.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.  The Panel would like to confer first before it -- it will have questions regarding this issue, so let's take a 10-minute break at this point.  It is 10:23.  I always say 10 minutes.  It's usually a little bit longer.  So -- but we're going to try for 10:33 and we'll return.  So Mr. Rubenstein and Mr. Smith, if you will make sure you're available at that time.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 10:24 a.m.
--- On resuming at 10:37 a.m.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Smith and Mr. Rubenstein, the Panel has a few questions.  Mr. Janigan is going to go first.

MR. JANIGAN:  Mr. Smith, one of the issues in this proceeding is the issue of capital structure, and I note that OPG is seeking a change in the equity thickness of OPG.  And in general terms, when that is sought, the inquiry concentrates primarily on two factors; one, the industry wide performance, and secondly, the performance of the utility itself.

I wonder why the questions -- the interrogatories asked by SEC are not relevant to the financial performance of OPG, and are maybe important in relation to the discussion of the equity thickness?

MR. SMITH:  Let me, am I on mute.  Sorry.  Let me respond to that this way.

The first is that wasn't the footing upon which my friend moved for answers to these questions.  The proposition was put entirely on the basis that this was relevant to an earnings sharing mechanism, and the fact that OPG was seeking a change in capital structure was obviously well-known well before my friend asked the questions, justified the questions, or put in place his letter.  So I would say that as an opening remark.

The second comes back to the point I made before about the curated list.  This is, in my respectful submission, a selection of questions that ask about specific items, and the questions -- the answers to those do not assist in relation to the earnings -- sorry, in relation to capital structure.

And that's the principal objection that I make to the questions, and I think is responsive to your questioning.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.  Does Mr. Rubenstein have anything to add on that?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I think it is fair that we did not move under the under the issue of capital structure.  But listening to your question, I do agree -- I do accept that, you know, one of the things that -- if you take a look at the dueling evidence between LEI and Concentrix on the issue, they talk about an issue that arose with respect to capital structure in the past is what deferral and variance accounts exist, what's the regulatory structure that goes with it and obviously understanding if embedded within the current regulatory structure, because of O.Reg. 53/05, that there will be an overearning could lead to arguments about the capital structure.

But in fairness to my friend in not preparing arguments on that, that was not our position -- as I think about it, I would agree with your hypothesis that you put to Mr. Smith.

MR. JANIGAN:  Mr. Smith, do you have anything to add on that point?

MR. SMITH:  As you will be aware, OPG's credit metrics and its financial performance and its capital structure are all evaluated and have always been evaluated by the Board on a combined technology basis.  And that's the basis upon which OPG's risk has been evaluated.

So I would say that even if you were to say that the financial performance of the company and its anticipated credit metrics are relevant, and you will have seen discussion of that in Concentrix's report to the extent you had an opportunity to review that yet, you will see those are all discussed on a combined basis, and of course that's not what is being sought here.

So I would say even looking at it in relation to capital structure, I would say the information would not be of assistance to you.

And picking up on my friend's comment about the regulatory construct, again I accept that the potential regulatory construct may be a relevant consideration.  So if my friend were to ask questions to the capital structure folks are the deferral and variance accounts in place for OPG different or the same for peer companies and would your view change if there was an earnings sharing mechanism.

That may be an appropriate question, but the answers to these questions aren't necessary for that.

MR. JANIGAN:  Would a question that the costs of the hydroelectric operations are declining, would that be something that would be capable of considering in relation to business risk?

MR. SMITH:  I think the better question would be in relation to the fixing of base rates, and whether or not that's a relevant consideration.  And that issue was expressly dealt with in the Concentrix report already in anticipation of that being something the Board might be interested in considering.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.  I had a few questions, but I want to pose mine directly to Mr. Rubenstein first.

Mr. Rubenstein, in many of these interrogatories, you talk about individual elements.  I think Mr. Smith referred to them as cherry-picking, whether it be fuel costs, debt costs.

Is it necessary for you to have exact numbers on any of these?  We talked about trends.  Is there a concern of materiality of knowing what these numbers are in order to make your submissions regarding something like an earnings sharing mechanism?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In fairness, I think most the questions we've asked relate to trends.  So a question about the fuel costs, it was simply just a practical question.  We didn't understand exactly -- in terms of trends, OPG mentions fuel costs for hydroelectric total generation cost number.  We didn't -- we just didn't understand what fuel are we talking about in the context of hydroelectric.   Are we talking about the gross revenue charge?  It was really just an explanation.

With respect to the others, if you go and look at the question with respect to the 2021 materials, this is the technical conference question, it asks -- it doesn't say what is the specific number you're going to be in 2021 with respect to earnings before taxes and otherwise.  It simply says are you doing better; it's a trend question.

With respect to the net -- with respect to the two questions that asked for numbers, we had taken from the numbers in trying to get a sense of the magnitude, so with respect to -- I believe this is, make sure I get my questions here -- SEC 46 where we had to confirm that the actual costs of the interest of the long-term applicable to the regulated hydroelectric is forecast to be $130 million lower.  So that's a specific question we were asking, is that what the number is, and it is to get a sense of the magnitude.  What is the magnitude over the five years we're talking about, because if it's ultimately a very small number, we were totally incorrect with how we derived that number; that's important.

With respect to the net income number, that is actually the complete opposite of a cherry-picking number because you're looking at the net income over those years for the regulated with all the costs and all the forecast revenues they expect.  And I think it would be helpful for the Board to understand the trends over time.

I would just say this.  This is the problem of what happens when you have a refusal on an IR, a refusal on the technical conference, it essentially shuts down the discussions and we have to have a motion like we have today.  So you don't get to ask follow-up questions to get a better sense.  And that's why, in many cases, the evolution of the inquiry hits an abrupt end in many cases and you're sort of stuck with the last question that you ask to get to it, and you have to pick which one is the best.  That's inherently a problem with refusals of this nature.

MS. DUFF:  I had another question.  If you don't mind, Mr. Smith, I'm going to complete my questions to Mr. Rubenstein and then if you want to comment.

Mr. Smith also did -- his exact words were the Board does not establish an earnings sharing mechanism on the anticipated variance from forecast to actual.  I'm not exactly sure I know what that means, but -- and just, those were his words, so I copied them down.  And so I agree the Board doesn't do it on that basis.  I think that is fair.

What is your opinion about the purpose of an earnings sharing mechanism in the time of uncertainty?  We're looking -- you say you want to look at trends.  That to me indicates we don't know, we don't have a crystal ball on what's going to happen.  There is uncertainty in the future.  Why is that important to you as an intervenor in this proceeding?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  So I would say an earnings sharing mechanism generally -- and I'll talk about it specifically -- generally deal with uncertainty about, you know, in the regulatory construct, the applicant always has an asymmetry of information to understand his business better than intervenors and the Board just inherently, and so an earnings sharing mechanism very often protects customers because they have more knowledge and the ability to control costs and revenues over time and there's a protection of customers where you're sharing in many cases the benefits of changes.  So -- and that's obviously important to customers.

With respect to OPG, and the issue specifically I think gets to this, is that we have a very unique situation here.  Because of O.Reg. 53/05 as of the end of the year the base rates will be frozen for the next five years, and that could potentially lead to significant overearnings of OPG over the period of the time -- over the term period.  And so an earnings sharing mechanism, as the Board explicitly recognizes, is a potential way that you can deal with this issue.  


But I would say -- and where our questions get to is, let's figure out if that's actually what's going to occur, right, is that actually an issue, and that's why we think it's relevant at this stage ultimately -- and this is -- a lot of my friend's comments -- arguments against these issues are final argument, to be frank.  That is what parties will argue at the end of the day before the Board if they should establish one and what's explicitly in the context of OPG and what is the purpose and all those sorts of things.  Here we're just trying to get some basic information so that we can make arguments to the Board at this stage.  I would say they're broadly relevant, if I could say, directly relevant to the issue of earnings sharing mechanism.

You know, the Board in its issues list decision directly makes the link when SEC raised the issue of possibly in its original submissions on the issues list about changing the base rates, and the Board said, no, we're not going do that, but here's another way we can do it; and the Board says -- simply says, we're not going to take a position, but it's an issue that we will discuss, and it adds the potential earnings sharing mechanism -- more similar type of mechanism.  And now we are trying to marshal the evidence to say, look, there may be overearnings.  Here are the trends, and we've asked some specific questions, a limited amount, to be honest, in the grand scheme of things here, to get to that.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Smith, did you have any comment in reply?

MR. SMITH:  Let me just make two brief observations.  The first is a reaction to my friend's observation about the nature of refusals, which I think is unfair for this context.  These questions were put expressly on the basis that they were necessary to proposed base rate adjustment, which the Board has determined is not a relevant issue, so of course it was entirely appropriate to object to them on that basis, and the suggestion, implicit, anyway, that it wasn't is obviously not borne out.

With respect to the remainder of my friend's submissions, I think I would be, frankly, repeating myself, which I don't see of assistance to the Panel.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just, I didn't mean to -- I wasn't trying to say OPG should not make refusals, it's just the very nature of the refusals, right or wrong, in any given case, that's just the nature of -- how it ends up playing out is that there is essentially estoppel of the inquiry at that point and you can't hear any more.  That's just inherent in the nature.  That was what I was just trying to mention -- make the point.

MS. DUFF:  And Mr. Smith, I had a request, an information request, during issues day of OPG to provide information as it's been provided to the OEB already.  Could you inquire regarding the status of providing that answer?  And it was the recordkeeping recording -- reporting type filings regarding 2019 and '20, including the clarifying questions that had been asked and the answers.  If you could provide us with an answer in terms of an update, a date that you'd expect to file that, and then that would be available to all parties.

MR. SMITH:  I will get the answer to that.  I've been told just now that all of the information has been gathered, and it's going to be provided extremely shortly.  So I will get you a bit more precision around extremely shortly, but I gather the information has been compiled.

MS. DUFF:  It would be -- fair enough.  Thank you very much.  Technology is an efficient tool to use.  Thank you very much.

My Panel members, did either of you have any questions to follow up?

MR. SARDANA:  No follow-up for me, Ms. Duff.

MR. JANIGAN:  Not for me.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Thank you very much.

Now, Mr. Rubenstein, did you want to proceed to the other motion which you had, and it was regarding the 2018 business plan.
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MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  So let me just back up here.  The refusal, the specific refusal -- and I'll walk through the background too -- it shows up at page 52 of the compendium, and this is day 1, page 176-177.  And if we can go down the page.  So Ms. Kerr says the following:

"If this is an appropriate time, I want to provide a clarification to Mr. Rubenstein regarding the OEB order from 2016 to the 2017 through 2021 IR period.  The disallowance from the OEB rate application are incorporated into our 2018 through 2021 business plan."

And on the next page I say:

"Okay.  Can I have that?  Can you provide the 2018 to 2021 business plan?"

And Mr. Keizer says:

"This goes back to our previous refusal, so it's refused on the same basis."

And I -- so just -- just to place where the actual refusals on the transcript.  And, you know, it's noted in our letter there's a number of overlapping reasons why we say providing the 2018 to 2021 business plan is relevant to this application and multiple issues under it.  And the first is, as background in the EB-2016-0152 decision, the Board made certain disallowances to OPG's 2017 to 2021 nuclear capital budget, specifically the in-service additions over that time, and Ms. Kerr is referencing that in her comments on the transcript, and if we can go to page 54 of the compendium, just walk through how we got to the technical conference questions, we asked in SEC 49 about the disallowances that the Board made in 20 -- to the 2017 to 2021 budgets in the decision and order and to explain how the capital plan was less modified after that.

And in its response OPG says, and I've highlighted a couple portions, it says:

"When establishing capital expenditure targets for 2018 to 2021 during its OEB business planning process, OPG considered a number of factors, including the OEB disallowances to its capital in-service amounts."

So it's talking about essentially the business planning process which comes out of the business planning process comes -- the business plan that it incorporated those disallowances into that plan, and then you see this more explicitly at line 38.  It mentions:

"OPG's specific capital expenditure targets are reflected in the business plans developed over the 2018 to 2020 period."

And at the technical conference we asked about that period, and there was sort of a misunder -- it was unclear exactly what was the business plan, and that's what Ms. Kerr's clarification is.  It was the 2018 to 2021 business plan.

We say that -- so if we go to the technical conference transcript and if we go to page 45 of the compendium, I have a discussion with the OPG witness, Mr. Icyk -- and I apologize if I'm pronouncing his name incorrectly -- and I say -- and he (sic) says on line 9:

"Do I take it from what ends up happening is the Board gave you the decision in the 0152 case and the revised capital targets are incorporated into a new business plan that's created over the 2018 to 2020 period?  Do I have that right?"

And the response is:

"Yes, we do an annual business planning process, a multi-year business plan when we got the OEB decision in December of 2017.  At the next business planning iteration we would have incorporated the information from the OEB's decision.  And that decision specifically stated as noted on line 17 that the -- referring to SEC 40 -- that the disallowance related to our capital in-service amounts."

And so then we asked for the -- we asked for that business plan, and Mr. Keizer objects, and as I understand the objection from OPG, it was it's really not relevant.  What's relevant is the actual amounts of in-service brought in versus the OEB approved amounts, that's all that's really relevant.  And we would submit the business plan is very important.  First to the specific issue of incorporating the Board's disallowances from that decision for the 2017 to the 2021 into the business planning process, we want to understand how OPG after it takes the Board's decision -- and I would submit to you the Board should be interested in how it incorporated its decision into the actual business planning process.  And yet the evidence is they took into many considerations and the output of that is the business plan, but it's refusing to provide a copy of that document, the business plan, that would show us what they actually took into account.

We say that should be of interest to the Board, and it is definitely of interest to us in helping to understand when the Board gives a decision to OPG telling it needs to reduce capital in-service additions.  What did it do?  What internal target did it set for itself?

And this leads to the second overlapping reason.  If the evidence -- if you look at page 55 -- sorry if you look at -- I won't bring this up.  The tables on 55 and 56 of the compendium, this is the comparison of the in-service capital additions to the nuclear operations versus the approved, you see OPG is seeking to add approximately, based on our calculations, 314 million dollars more in-service additions over the 2017 to 2021 period than the Board approved, or about 21 percent more over that period.  And they're seeking to add that variance into its opening 2020-2022 rate base, and that's relevant to the issue of the opening rate base on the issues list.

So clearly the prudence of that over spend is at issue in this proceeding, and it's a significant variance, so it's very important.  And as we understand, it is the 2018 to 2021 business plan that approved -- that essentially was the target internally was the approval of that spending over that period of time.

So for the same reason the 2022 -- sorry, the 2026 business plan is relevant to the spending going forward in this proceeding, and OPG has produced that.  We would say the 2018 to 2021 business plan is relevant to understanding the changes OPG made after the disallowance, what decision was then made with respect to the spending.

It's one thing to say actuals as compared to its approved for a certain number.  But the other is you may have decided to make different changes and whatnot about spending.  But what did OPG actually target to do.  What was OPG's actual internal targets, so we can compare the actuals and understand the process when it takes the Board's disallowance and then in many cases it's still spending significantly above the Board approved amount.

We say that is clearly relevant to the issues before the Board.  It's relevant to the rate base issue that the Board will need to grapple with when it goes to the question of the prudence of that overspend over that period, and as well generally to its management of its operations after a Board decision.  We would say that's clearly an issue the Board should be concerned about and interested in.

Lastly, on a slightly different issue that we raised in the tech conference, but also goes to the business plan that came up later on, was as the Board may be aware, OPG has numerous metrics it benchmarks against others and benchmarks itself against about costs, reliability, and safety and a bunch of other metrics, and it sets annual targets for those metrics and provided those annual targets in its evidence going forward.

I don't have this in my compendium, but at Staff 196, OPG provided its performance against the actual annual targets previously set.  And what SEC did was it compared the targets it had set over that period against what it actually said in the last proceeding were the actual targets, what targets they put on the record in that proceeding for the forward period.  And what we noticed was there were differences.

When it came to the 2017 and 2018 -- sorry, the 2017 and 2018 years, the targets ultimately were different than OPG had set out in its evidence in the last proceeding.  And if we can go to page 50 of the compendium, I have a discussion with OPG about this.

In the previous pages, I'm essentially bringing him to that Staff interrogatory and asking him, well, the annual targets that you were comparing yourself against in this IR response seem to be different than the ones I found in the record in the last proceeding, and what is the changes.

And OPG's response here is -- you see this on page 50, starting at line -- the discussion at line 17.  
"I think I would have to dig into the specifics and figure out what any particular thing would be different.  But the thing that comes to mind related to 2018 is it's related to the kind of previous discussion we just had, which is, you know, an updated business plan.  We lock in targets going forward, and those would be reflected and future years would be updated."



As I understand what he is saying here is that things change, and the business plan targets change to reflect the updated business plan that comes into effect.  Obviously, the benchmarking and performance measures have been an issue of interest for the Board for a number of years, but a large portion of the evidence talks about this.

We would like to see the business plan that underlies the driver of the changes in those performance targets.  It is clearly relevant to the Board and clearly relevant to the issues the Board needs to decide under the benchmarking issue, as well issues that percolate into all the issues is performance and we can better understand what the change in those targets that were driven by the change in the business plan.


For those reasons, we think the 2018 to 2021 business plan is clearly relevant to the issues in this proceeding and should be produced.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.  Mr. Smith?
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MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Let me make three points.

The first point is we're talking about a business plan that is superseded, and does not underpin this application the costs that are claimed in the revenue requirement at issue in this proceeding.  So when we're talking about a document that is being superseded by what's at issue in this proceeding.

The second point is my friend says this information is relevant and took you to the transcript reference relating to the in-service additions and the capital planning in the interim period, making the submission that this is relevant to opening rate base.

We've already agreed to provide that information.  And technical conference refusals 1 to 4 from AMPCO, which we started today by indicating would be answered, those are the questions that were asked.  It was tell us what OPG's planning was for capital spend during the intervening period, and tell us what the ISA budget was during the interim period, and that was a reference to D2, tab 1, schedule 3, I believe, which was the very schedule my friend took you to earlier.

That information, to the extent it's something my friend feels he needs and justifies the request, we've already agreed to provide.

Second, or I -- the third submission, because I'm going have a fourth, I apologize.  Third submission on this point is to the extent the Board is concerned about benchmarking, as I know it is, what matters is the ultimate benchmarking performance that's at issue in this proceeding and how OPG has done at the end of the period, not what OPG thinks about benchmarking in the interim period to the extent it's discussed at all.

And then finally, I would say not only is the business plan per se not relevant, but it contains, by any stretch of the imagination on my friend's submission, a lot of information not germane to any of the bases upon which he puts his request and which is currently the subject, as relates to the actual business plan that is actually an issue for the parties, of a back and forth about relevance, redactions, Board's eyes only, what have you.

And in my submission, where he has been provided with information already that underpins the requests that he wants to make, there is no need to go through the process of doing that again with respect to a document that can have no bearing on the issues in this proceeding.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  I just have one question at this juncture.  I learned this morning that OPG had agreed to provide AMPCO answers to the four technical conference questions.  It was the completion of those tables.  I understand that correctly, right?

MR. SMITH:  You do understand that correctly.

MS. DUFF:  And could you perhaps explain to me or distinguish why OPG would provide those tables and yet has a different opinion with respect to the business plan in entirety?  I understood the tables would be furnished with business plan numbers as it related to those four tables?

MR. SMITH:  They will be, and the distinction is the distinction I tried obviously not particularly successfully to make in my final submission, which -- that is -- that information relating to business plan ISA numbers was the basis upon which, as I understood it, my friend justified the request for the business plan.  And I'm saying if that's true, and I accept that it is, you have that information.  You don't need the entirety of a lengthy business plan which contains confidential information that addresses a range of other matters because I'm giving you already what you needed.  That's the point.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much.  I think you just added a new acronym -- I've never heard it -- ISA -- before, but I take it means in-service additions?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  I apologize.  I know that for the benefit of the record I should try to avoid acronyms, so I will endeavour to do that.

MS. DUFF:  Just so we understand each other.

Mr. Rubenstein, would you like to reply?
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MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  A couple things.  First, with respect to the technical conference questions they agreed to provide.  I'll be honest.  I was focused on the issues that SEC was going to bring forward today, so I haven't had a chance to go through that in any detail, but I would say that there is still a distinction that I think is important, and the first is -- and that distinction is the business plan doesn't just provide a certain set of numbers, it provides the narrative around those numbers.  I think the Board would be interested -- I mentioned this in my submissions -- how it got from the decision -- how the Board's decision on the related capital issues to the numbers and the narrative around it and the evidence is that's included in the business plan -- the business planning process towards the business plan, and I think that would be of interest to the Board, as well as party submissions, to understand what is the drivers of these overearnings and -- I'm sorry, overspending in those -- for the nuclear operations in-service, and understand just simply from a process point of view how OPG is responding to Board decisions, because ultimately the Board made a reduction in the in-service addition and OPG has overspent from that production, so clearly, you know, it spent more than the reduction itself, right, so I think that would be of interest to the Board.

I would say this as well with respect to the targets.  My friend said, well, you know, the Board is interested in benchmarking, but really it's the results.  

First of all, obviously that is important, I wouldn't disagree with that at all, but setting targets is also an important part.  I think the Board has on many occasions discussed that its expectation and that there is a benefit of setting targets at a utility, any utility, OPG or otherwise, is trying to get to, how it drives performance.  And we understand, and the driver of that part of the reason why it's relevant is the targets that they set in the last proceeding and put on the record -- this is where the follow-ups came -- change, and the response from OPG is that it changed, and this was driven by the changing in the business planning.  The business plan changed, the numbers changed, so we changed the targets.  


So SEC is interested to understand and we would expect the Board is interested in understanding that process, not just because it relates to a previous performance, but also that that may occur again in the future and try to understand how when the decision comes out in this decision and the next business plan is created, what is the process that OPG goes towards it changing the business plan itself, the target that make up -- that sort of underlie the targets.

And then lastly, my friend sort of made the argument, well, the business plan -- there is a back-and-forth with the Board about what redactions are supposed to be meant, and we don't need the full business plan.  I take it that that's just more trouble now.  That was the intent.

You know, look, I would say however the Board resolves the issue with the current business plan could be applied to the previous business plan, but in fact if anything more of the information could probably be put on the public record, outside of the unregulated elements, which is not what SEC is seeking here.

Clearly we're now talking about primarily historical information, so there's even less of a confidentiality issue with the regulated issues, because we're talking about a previous set of information.

Those are my submissions.

MS. DUFF:  I just had a quick follow-up to that.  Mr. Rubenstein, you heard this morning that OPG will reply to AMPCO's four questions.  Do you think when you see the answer to that that will help you provide any information?  I mean, I can see -- let me just finish.  I can see two scenarios.  The business plan is equal to what the OEB approved or it's not.  And the difference between those two numbers -- doesn't matter if it's 1 percent, 5 percent, 10 percent -- will that provide you with any information, or is that insufficient for you?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You're talking about the response from the technical -- well, I would like to take a look.  I haven't -- I'd like to take a look again -- relook at 
the -- so that maybe is the best way.  But I would just say this.  And obviously they haven't provided the actual response, so I would recognize that the numbers are -- well, if the business planning -- if the numbers in the -- assuming that it's -- if the numbers in the AMPCO technical -- the AMPCO responses are -- it's the Board-approved numbers, right, then if the business plan as imported, no, because those would be the Board-approved numbers, but my expectation is that they are not the same because of the overspend.

In addition, you know, if you take a look back at SEC 49, they don't say we just incorporated those into the business plan.  They list a number of factors, and that goes into it.  And I would just say this.  The difference between simply the numbers and the business plan, the business plan provides OPG's internal narrative about how it incorporated the Board's decision.  I think that is just as important, ultimately, than the numbers for the Board to understand in OPG's business planning process, you know, how it actually incorporated the Board's decision.  I think that would be an issue for the Board, not just for this, but sort of as a general interest in understanding how when the Board renders this decision on all aspects, how does it actually incorporate that into its actual planning process.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.  Do any of the other Panel members have any questions regarding this issue?

MR. SARDANA:  Not at this point, Ms. Duff.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  I would like to proceed then.  I think that is the end of -- addresses all of SEC's motion.  Next on the agenda would be AMPCO.  Do you require a break or can you proceed at this point?

MS. GRICE:  I can proceed at this point.  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Please proceed then, thank you.
AMPCO MOTIONS
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MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  AMPCO is seeking responses to interrogatories 89C, 100, and 101.  All of these interrogatories are related to the D2O storage project.  And just for the Panel's benefit, this relates to issue 7.6 on the issues list, which states:

"Are the proposed test period in-service additions for the D2O project reasonable?"

And just by way of background, in this application OPG seeks to incorporate the remaining 494.7 million of capital costs for the D2O project in rate base.

We provided compendiums for motions day, and primarily they contain references that were included in our May 14, 2021 letter, so perhaps we can get those marked as an exhibit.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, that will be KM1.2.  
EXHIBIT NO. KM1.2:  AMPCO COMPENDIUMS.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  So I'm going to start with AMPCO 89C, and in that question we asked that OPG provide a list of project managers for the D2O storage project over the course of the project, and specifically we asked that OPG provide the years of experience of each project manager and a list of the other projects they were managing simultaneously.

So just by way of background, the final cost of the D2O storage project is 400 million above the original cost estimate of 110 million, and it was completed five years later than the original schedule estimate of 2015.  It's AMPCO's understanding that the project manager for the D2O project has accountability to ensure the approved scope of work for the project is delivered on time and on budget.  OPG describes in its evidence that the D2O storage project is a complex first-of-a-kind multifaceted facility.  So in AMPCO's view, having the right project manager with the right level of experience at the outset of a project of this nature is critical to the successful delivery of the project within the approved budget and schedule.

In AMPCO 89, part C, AMPCO seeks very specific information in the change in project managers over time, their years of experience within OPG, their years of experience as a project manager, and the number of other projects they were managing simultaneously while they were managing the D2O storage project.

It's on the record in this proceeding that OPG's project management of the D2O project was inadequate.  So if we could please go to AMPCO compendium, attachment number 1.  There's an attachment 1 to the compendium which is the auditor general's audit from 2018 regarding the Darlington refurbishment project -- there we go.  Okay.

So if we can please turn to page 3 -- page 121 of this document, the page numbers are in the top right-hand corner.

MS. DUFF:  Ms. Grice, I have a quick question.  The auditor general report, I am trying to read the transcript.  Is it associated with IR existing already, or is it an exhibit in this proceeding?

MS. GRICE:  Yes, it was provided with School Energy Coalition interrogatory, which is SEC 86.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  Just for reference, I needed that, thank you.

MS. GRICE:  Sure, thank you.  If we just look at page 121 of the auditor general's report, on the bullet in the left hand side it talks about the prerequisite project work that was undertaken in advance of the Darlington refurbishment work.  And it indicates that there's a cost overrun of approximately 725 million, and this relates to 18 projects, and the D2O storage project is one of those 18 projects, and it is a prerequisite project.

So if you go down the bottom of that bullet, it says the main causes for the cost overrun were -- and if we look at the top of this page, it provides the bullet I want to refer to.  It says here that prerequisite project work was assigned to OPG staff with limited relevant experience, and project management and oversight of contractors performing prerequisite project work were inadequate.

I wanted to provide those references to support AMPCO's request for this information in saying that the auditor general also raised this as an issue.  In AMPCO's view, the information requested in AMPCO IR 89, part C, is reasonable and relevant to understanding if OPG prudently managed the D2O storage project and assigned the required level of project level experience over the course of the project, given the scope, cost duration, and complexity of the project and the resulting cost in schedule overruns.

AMPCO is not seeking the names of the project managers.  AMPCO is asking that OPG complete the table provided in AMPCO's letter dated May 14, 2021.  And if we pull up that letter, the table is included on page 3 of that letter.  This is the table that AMPCO is seeking for OPG to complete in response to AMPCO 89 C.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Ms. Grice.  I was hoping someone would put that up.  I think it's important.  Just to note here in the brackets you're saying do not provide names, is that correct?

MS. GRICE:  Correct, yes.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Smith?
Submissions by Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  I'm going to be very brief on this point.  If you look at what the attorney general determined, it was not an individualized focus.

What the attorney general said was the work was assigned in the project and modifications group.  This is a group and ultimately an OPG responsibility to manage the project.

And what we are concerned about is despite my friend limiting her request to removing the name when it was very clearly initially that was the plan.  This is I would say a request which is focused on individuals over a ten year period with the suggestion being that those particular individuals were themselves responsible for the management or mismanagement, if my friend wants to put it that way, of a particular project.

And it's the singling out of individuals that we have a concern with, not a request about performance of the project and modifications group over the relevant period, because obviously it's going to be incumbent on OPG to justify the spend on the D2O project at the end of the day.

So I just want to be clear about the nature of our objection and why we say it's inappropriate.  It's ultimately an OPG responsibility, and I say singling out particular individuals is unfair and unnecessary and not what the AG was doing.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  Ms. Grice, did you have anything in reply to Mr. Smith's comments?
Reply Submissions by Ms. Grice:


MS. GRICE:  I would just say that OPG is asking ratepayers to fund half a billion dollars for the D2O storage project and that's a project that was originally estimated to be 110 million.

We have in our compendium -- if we can go to the AMPCO compendium page 5, this is a letter that was provided by the contractor that OPG terminated on the project and it's their reply to OPG's termination.

And if you look at part C, they state OPG management on the project had never managed a project of this magnitude and it became apparent that they had little influence with the OPG stakeholders to remove obstacles, secure -- I'm sorry, can you move it over a bit?  I can't read the rest of the sentence, I'm sorry -- secure access and obtain approvals to facilitate the B&M project team to proceed on time and within budget.

So AMPCO is not trying to seek -- or we're not trying to draw attention to individual project managers.  We're looking at the change in project management over time because we feel project management on this project is an issue in this proceeding.  It's been raised by several parties and requires further investigation.

Our request is very specific, and we're trying to be respectful of the level of effort on OPG's part in providing this information, by providing a table with our specific requests in it.  But in order to understand the prudence of the project, AMPCO believes this information and the issues around project management is relevant to this proceeding.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Ms. Grice.  Do any of my Panel members have any questions regarding this issue, 89C?

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  Ms. Grice, I note that the auditor general's report are has been filed in the proceeding essentially comes to two conclusion, which is I gather from the information requested you want to establish.

Why is that not sufficient in relation to conclusions associated with the performance?

MS. GRICE:  We just feel that the information on the experience of the project managers over time, and their experience within OPG and whether or not they manage projects of this nature requires further investigation because of the ask that OPG has regarding this project that OPG is asking ratepayers to fund half a billion dollars in rate base related to this project, and we feel there isn't sufficient information on the record regarding the specific details surrounding the project management of the D2O storage project.

MR. JANIGAN:  So you think you have to do a deeper dive into the evidence that the auditor general obviously looked into in order to establish that, or --


MS. GRICE:  Well, we did -- oh.

MR. JANIGAN:  -- I guess what I'm asking is, aren't you -- if the aim is looking at, you know, what may be suspected is improper project management by AMPCO, aren't you gilding the lily here that we have a -- you have an auditor general's report that effectively sets out what you're attempting to investigate?

MS. GRICE:  Except that Mr. Smith stated that he doesn't feel the auditor general's work here speaks specifically to the D2O project but more to the projects and modifications group.  So that was my understanding of what was said, so that that is why we're asking for specific details around management of the D2O project.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Mr. Crawford, would you like to respond?  Mr. Smith.  How many times has that been done to you when I've been in proceedings, and I swore when I got into this thing I would not do it.  Sorry.

MR. SMITH:  Just to digress, you didn't do it more than Mr. Isherwood used do at Union, and he was my witness.  So there you have it.

Let me just briefly say this.  There are already tens of thousands of pages of evidence filed in relation to the D2O project.  The amount of information that has been filed already is, you know, unlike anything you would see.

I agree entirely with your observations, and I did not say that the Auditor General was not talking about the D2O project.  What I am objecting to is a targeted attack on particular individuals as opposed to the management of the project itself, and there's mountains of evidence about that issue already.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Well, lastly I just want to say we are not doing a targeted attack on individuals.  We're just asking for the project managers to be identified over time, because perhaps continuity of project managers could be an issue in this proceeding as well.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Thanks very much.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Ms. Grice.  I think those are the Panel's questions.  Do you want to proceed to issues 100 and 101?  Are you planning to deal with those separately or together?

MS. GRICE:  I'm planning on dealing with those together.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Then please proceed.
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MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  So OPG's evidence related to the D2O storage project discusses contracting for the project, and it includes summary info on the initial contracting efforts related to two requests for proposals.

And by way of background, the D2O storage project was the first major DRP project to be executed under OPG's new extended service master service agreement, ESMSA.  Using an engineer procure and construct contracting model, OPG awarded the project to Black & McDonald in 2012 as the prime contractor, and Black & McDonald's team included RCM Technologies Canada Corporation for the engineering work.

OPG terminated the contractor for the D2O storage project in 2014 with cause.  And in 2011, just prior to giving a work request to Black & McDonald, OPG cancelled two RFP processes, and it's information related to these two RFP processes that are the subject of AMPCO IR number 100 and 101.

So it's on the record in this proceeding that the selected vendor did not have the highest technical score.  And if we can please go to AMPCO compendium, which is the auditor general's report, and back to page 121.  The very bottom bullet on the left-hand side, which again speaks to the main causes for the cost overruns of the prerequisite projects, of which the D2O storage project is one, it says:

"Some contractors were selected to perform prerequisite project work largely based on their low bid prices, even though competing contractors scored higher on technical criteria."

And if we can next turn, please, to page 155 of the compendium, figure 14 shows OPG's assessment of the contractor's bids for the heavy water storage and drum handling facility.  And you can see in this table that OPG gave a weight of 50 percent to each of price, and then technical expertise, risk management plans, and overall quality of the proposal.

And the results of this analysis show that, even though OPG gave Black & McDonald's proposal a significantly lower technical score and they're the winning contractor in figure 14, it selected Black & McDonald as the winning contractor as a result of its lower bid price.  And if you look at the technical scores, the winning contractor is 32 out of 50 and the competing contractor was 49 out of 50.

So with respect to AMPCO interrogatories 100 and 101, we seek specific information on these two RFPs to explore OPG's prudence in contractor selection.  The engineering work under a standalone RFP is the same engineering work as under an engineering procure and construct contract.

We would not expect the D2O facility design and functionality to change based on issuing one purchase order for engineering or bundling the engineering procurement of materials and construction into one purchase order in an engineering procure and construct contract.

AMPCO seeks to know the scope of work for each engineering RFP proposal, who the proponents were, which proponents provided proposals, and the mandatory criteria used to evaluate those proposals, and why the proponents did not meet the mandatory criteria.

AMPCO assumes prominent vendors participated in this RFP process.  AMPCO believes this request is reasonable and relevant, as OPG may not have selected the right engineering partner.  This is evident as further design changes and cost increases resulted once the new contractor, CanAtom, was put in place.

AMPCO seeks to understand if the evaluation of the engineering under the engineer procure and construct contract process was of the same rigour used to evaluate the results of the cancelled RFPs, including application of OPG's mandatory criteria in the second RFP, and AMPCO seeks to understand if the standards that were applied to each process were consistent.

Those are AMPCO's submissions.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Ms. Grice.  Mr. Smith?
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MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  So these -- we're going to need the Darlington -- the AG report up at page 156.  This is a non-sequitur, in my respectful submission, and it's best understood that way.  There is no question about my friend's ability to ask about the Black & McDonald RFP.  In fact, I'm sorry, if we go back to 154, this is the issue at section 4.6.3, underweighting technical criteria when selecting contractors contributed to cost overruns.  What the -- sorry, you have to go down further.  Keep going.  There, that's good.  Thank you.

The attorney general was not looking at, did not ask for, and did not feel it was necessary to consider RFPs that took place in 2011 which were cancelled which covered a narrower scope, engineering, not EEPC, which is what ultimately happened, and which do not form any part of any request that's before this Board or of any relevance.

What the AG actually decided is, if you look at the third sentence of that section:  
"Overall, we identified that OPG's procurement process generally complied with its own policies and the broader public sector procurement directive.  However, in our review of OPG's evaluations of contractor bids for 17 of the 18 prerequisite projects, we found 5 projects where OPG selected contractors that submitted lower bid prices, but scored lower on the technical criteria than the competing contractors."


There's a couple points to observe there.  This is all in relation to, or at least germane to this, the selection of Black & McDonald.  There is no concern here about the process, the procurement process that was run by OPG.  It complied with the appropriate process.

The concern that's being expressed is with respect to weighting.  That is a concern that's expressed in relation to Black & McDonald.  My friend has got every opportunity, and has indeed asked questions about the Black & McDonald retainer and that RFP process.  And indeed, if you look at AMPCO 102 through 106 and SEC 98, all of those questions relate to the RFP that resulted in OPG selecting Black & McDonald.

What my friend is doing, respectfully -- there is an argument that we need to look at an RFP that did not go ahead to decide or ask questions about an RFP that later did go ahead about a different scope and which she has an almost unlimited ability to ask questions in relation to.  And I think there is no logical connective tissue between something that never happened and something that did happen in relation to a different scope.
Continued Reply Submissions by Ms. Grice:


MS. GRICE:  I will reply to that now.  Okay, thank you.  First off, respectfully, the auditor general is not approving half a billion dollars into rate base, so I would make that distinction between what the auditor general looked at and what this OEB Panel is looking at.

And secondly, there were two RFP processes that contained a scope of work and technical criteria to evaluate prospective vendors for this project.  We don't know what that scope of work looked like.  We don't know who those vendors were.  We don't know if one of those vendors was Black & McDonald and they were ultimately rejected as part of the first RFP process.

We don't know if the contractor that replaced Black & McDonald was part of this initial RFP process.  And the main part about AMPCO interrogatories 100 and 101 is we seek to understand what criteria, what mandatory criteria were you evaluating those proponents on in those early RFPs compared to what you ultimately gave to Black & McDonald because we see in the auditor's report that they scored lower on the technical expertise and overall quality of the proposal.

That's what we're trying to understand is was the same rigor applied in awarding the contract to Black & McDonald in 2012 as was undertaken in those RFPs a short time earlier in 2011.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Ms. Grice.  Do any other members of the Panel have questions regarding this issue?

MR. SARDANA:  Not at this time.

MR. JANIGAN:  I don't have any.

MS. DUFF:  I understand, Ms. Grice, that concludes your comments regarding your motions?

MS. GRICE:  Yes, it does.  Thank you very much.

MS. DUFF:  At this juncture, it's 11:42.  Perhaps it would make sense to take a break and upon returning, we will turn to Mr. Millar on behalf of OEB Staff, who will lead the comments in OEB Staff's submissions.  So it's 11:42.  Let's try for 11:52.  Thank you very much.
--- Recess taken at 11:43 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:55 a.m.



MS. DUFF:  Welcome back from the break, everyone.  Thank you for being punctual.

Mr. Millar, do you want to proceed?
OEB STAFF MOTIONS
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MR. MILLAR:  Yes, thank you very much, Madam Chair.  I don't think we will be too long with this.  There is really just a very narrow issue remaining, so hopefully we can do this fairly expeditiously.

So with the conversation that we had earlier this morning about the information that OPG has agreed to provide, this, again, is a narrower issue than it was before.  The issue relates to the treatment of any net proceeds from an asset that OPG may be selling prior to 2026.  And some of the details related to that transaction are confidential, so out of an abundance of caution, I'm not actually going to name the asset on the record here, but to the extent you're interested, you can see a discussion about this asset and the asset that is intended to replace it in Society interrogatory 7, which I think is Exhibit L, D3-01-Society-007.  Again, I don't think we need to -- I don't need to say the name here, so I'm going to avoid doing that, but if for whatever reason you're interested, that's where you can see it.

In any event, this asset is being sold because OPG is moving the functions associated with this asset to a new asset at a different location.  The costs related to the new asset at the new location are included in OPG's revenue requirement in the test period, starting, I think, in 2024.

So the question at final argument will be what, if any, portion of the proceeds from the sale of the asset should be allocated to ratepayers.  And I want to be very clear at this point.  Staff is not making any submission on what the answer to that question should be.  All we're hoping for at this point is to ensure that that is something that's within scope of this proceeding, something we will be able to talk about at that point.  So that's the only narrow issue we want to address now.

Now, as I said, OPG has agreed to provide us with the forecast net costs for the sale of the asset in question without resiling from any rights it may have on final argument, and although the asset in question has not been sold to date, it is possible that it will be sold prior to 2022; in other words, prior to the beginning of the next test period.

OEB Staff is therefore asking that the Board also make it clear that these net proceeds if any can be considered by the Board even if the sale takes place prior to 2022.  Now, if you don't do that, we're concerned that there could be a rate retroactivity issue and that OPG could argue that the revenues associated with the pre-2022 sale are out of period revenues and therefore cannot be considered in the context of a 2022 to 2026 rate application.

Any proceeds from this sale are not covered under OPG's current rate order for 2021, and that's not surprising, because neither the parties, the Board, nor as far as I know OPG itself knew back in 2017 that it might be selling this asset.  And because of this there is no reflection in the current rate order about the fact that there is a possibility that this asset may be sold.  It just, it wasn't known back at the time that rates were being set.

So OEB Staff is therefore asking the Board to indicate in its decision on the motion that, to the extent the asset is sold in 2021, any net revenues associated with the sale are on the table, for lack of a better word, for consideration in the current payment case; in other words, for the 2022 to 2026 test period.

I don't think there is any real question that the Board has the power do this, that the Board can create, for example, a deferral account at any time, and that would be one of the options here.  It doesn't matter that the account was not created back in 2017 when the current rate term was approved by the Board.  As I've said, nobody knew at the time this was even potentially an issue.

The Board can create a DVA at any time.  In fact, there is a good example of this in the current case, where the COVID impacts DVA, the CEDA, was created by the Board last year, and OPG is using that account to record amounts for 2020 and 2021.

So as long as the account is created prior to the sale, there shouldn't be any concerns about rate retroactivity.  But I should also state that I don't think the Board actually needs to create a formal deferral account here.  It's clear from the case law and Board precedents the important thing is that the Board clearly signal to the parties that the proceeds from any sale in 2021 are subject to consideration for disposition to ratepayers, again, just for consideration.  We're not asking for any conclusion on that point at this part, and indeed, we don't even know what we will finally argue.

So the term that you will see sometimes used by the court -- the Board is whether the amounts in question are encumbered.  In other words, has the Board indicated that it will be looking at these costs to revenues in the future.

So if you simply indicate in the motion decision that any proceeds from the sale of the asset in 2021 are subject to consideration in the current case, in OEB Staff's view, that is sufficient.  I offer this as an alternative only because it seems to be a simpler option than creating a formal deferral account, and I believe it achieves the same objective.

But at the end of the day OEB Staff is simply asking the Board to indicate that the proceeds from any disposition of the asset in 2021 can be subject to consideration in this case.  And Madam Chair, those are my submissions.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Crawford (sic)?  Smith?  [Laughing]
Submissions by Mr. Smith:

MR. SMITH:  I will -- I will be brief on this point.  Mr. Millar has correctly identified the issue, as I would expect.  The issue is not about allocation of gains and whether that's appropriate in the event the asset is sold in the 2022 to 2026 period.  We're going have a fight about that potentially down the road.  I don't know.  The narrow issue is whether or not in effect the Board should reopen its 2021 final rate order.  And in my respectful submission, the Board should decline that invitation.

The Board indicated in its recent issues day decision that it would not do that in relation to hydro rates, commenting on the fact that there was a final rate order in respect of 2021.  And I say the same logic applies with equal force here, that the Board has rendered a final rate order, and it matters not whether this issue was or was not in the contemplation of any party back at the time of the 2016-0152 proceeding.  Indeed, there are often things that people don't think of that happen over the currency of a rate period.  And in those instances, the Board, in my respectful submission, rightly declines to open the rate order.

It's important as well to bear in mind that what we're here to talk about is refusals.  There are no refusals here.  This is a new position from staff, articulated in their letter, that they want to reopen the 2021 rate order, and I say it's not even properly before you.

In my submission, this sets a very dangerous precedent, that parties could identify issues and come to the Board on a refusals motion or otherwise and ask in effect to sidestep the order.

And I don't want to leave you with the impression that the asset in question is going to be sold during the period.  I have no idea, and there is no -- there is nothing to be drawn from that, and I don't think Mr. Millar is, and I don't want to suggest that he is.  But I also don't want to equally suggest to you that anybody is trying to pull a fast one here at all, because they're not.  It's just as a matter of principle we say that the request should not be granted and there is no proper basis for it.

I guess as a final matter I will say that if my friend wanted to make this request, yes, the case law does say that provided the asset or issue is encumbered, but that wording comes out from the 2011 Union Gas earnings sharing mechanism case that some of you may recall, and the issue in that proceeding was the scope of an already existing earnings sharing mechanism and whether that earnings sharing mechanism was broad enough to encompass prior revenues, and I say it's not instructive here because that's not in fact what's happening.  There is no issue or suggestion that there is some mechanism that would capture this for 2021 that was put in place at the time of the final order.  In fact, it's an entirely after the fact construct.  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Millar, did you want to reply to that?
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MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I'll be very brief, Madam Chair.  So just a couple of quick points.

The first is we are not asking you to reopen the existing proceeding.  We're asking for the creation of essentially a new DVA.  As I've already said, there is a precedent for that as we just discussed.  The COVID DVA was obviously not part of the original 2015 to 2021 rate framework.  So there is a precedent right there for, in significant cases, the Board can do that.  But I do want to -- in some sense, I think Mr. Smith's points are worth considering, if I can put it that way.  OEB Staff and OPG would likely agree that once you set a five-year term, you should not be tinkering with it willy-nilly, if I can put it that way.  It would only be where significant new information arises, and COVID would be a good example of that.

The current case unfortunately for Board Staff is we have no idea whether the proceeds from this sale are 20 dollars or 200 million dollars.  So it's very difficult for us to say this is not material at this point.  It could be extremely material, or it could be completely nothing.  We simply don't know at this point.

So for that reason, we think this may be we're encumbering, if I can put that way, for 2021.  And if Mr. Smith doesn't like the encumbering point, I don't think he disputes the Board can create a DVA.  So that works for staff as well.  I think it's unnecessary personally, but it's something that can be done.

So again, it's not staff's view that we should -- every time any new fact arises, we should immediately be opening up a custom IR term.  But there are cases where it's appropriate and without knowing the quantums involved here, staff can't say that is not the case here.

I will leave it at that.  Thank you very much.

MR. SMITH:  Go ahead, Madam Chair.

MS. DUFF:  Did you have any comments, Mr. Smith?

MR. SMITH:  I just wanted, with your indulgence, just briefly make two brief observations.

The first is the Board does typically provide for mechanisms where it wants the ability -- whether it's a Z factor or otherwise, and is interested in the possibility of being able to reopen a rate framework.  And that doesn't apply here at all.

The second is in my respectful submission, there is a significant difference between an event that is entirely exogenous, external to the regulated utility, such as COVID and this, when we're talking about a sale of an asset.  So I say the comparison is analogous.

MS. DUFF:  I had a few questions.  Mr. Rubenstein, you put your camera on.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Since this is an issue of scope, I should have spoken up earlier.  But since this is an issue of scope and not an IR, to be honest we thought this was going to be dealt with originally on issues day, I would like to make comments on the issue of scope.

MS. DUFF:  On the understanding -- I think that is fair, I was always providing the opportunity for parties in support to make comments.  So to the extent knowing that Mr. Smith will have the opportunity to reply to any of your comments.
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MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just two brief things.  I do wish to -- we're in support of OEB Staff's position at this stage.  I would just highlight the comments he made at the beginning of his submissions that what is happening, what appears to be happening is a disposition of some asset that could occur in the current term, and a replacement of that asset in the future.  So there is essentially a mismatch here, and that I think is a special consideration that the Board should consider here.

Just on the legal question -- so that's the first thing.  The second thing I would say is even if the Board does not provide a deferral account or encumber, I just note that the case law does state that really the issue with respect to retroactivity is the parties' knowledge.

So if you tell OPG that this issue is in play, then they have knowledge and it's not retroactivity.  That's what the case law says, you know, being interim rates or deferral accounts, the broader issue is about knowledge.

I'd just say the third thing here is, even if you don't agree, I want to be clear:  I think it should be open, and I would ask you not to preclude this argument unintentionally in your decision here, preclude the parties from arguing that irregardless, there still may be an inability for parties to argue any future amounts in this test can be offset by some historical sale of assets.

What that exactly looks like will be for the argument to be made based on the evidence and since it's confidential, I can't really speak to it.  But even if you don't agree with Mr. Millar, I think there is still that argument that can be made that would not run afoul necessarily to the rule of retroactivity.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Smith?
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MR. SMITH:  Two observations in response to that.  There is no special significance or importance to the fact that the asset sale may or may not happen now.  And I don't want to call it replacement, because it may prejudge the issue.  But there could be something down the road, so I don't think that tells you anything about what's actually ad issue here about whether or not you should reopen because that is in effect what you would be doing by establishing a deferral and variance account.  You would be reopening the 2021 rate order.  And there is no other way to see it.

The second point is I disagree with Mr. Rubenstein's characterization of the law.  The comments about knowledge about the potential for a rate change, those stem from consideration in the case law between interim and final rates, with the court saying very clearly that where there is an interim rate order, everybody, whether they're on the customer side, the utility side of the regulator, is aware of the potential change in the final rates.

So there is no concern about retroactivity in that sense.  That is fundamentally different than where there is unquestionably a final rate order that's been issued.  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Millar, as the moving party, do you have any comments to address what Mr. Smith said -- or Mr. Rubenstein?

MR. MILLAR:  I would only be repeating myself, so no.

MS. DUFF:  I have a few questions, so I'll go first.  I thought on issues day there was some question regarding issue 11, that both parties had found the issue was properly subsumed.

Can we put that up on the screen?  I had a few questions of clarification regarding the approved issues list from yesterday, issue 11.1, just to make sure I understand.  We can keep talking while it is -- so we need to then go to the schedule 1.  Thank you, Lori Patchett.

If I'm not mistaken, originally there was some question regarding this issue.  We were talking about DVAs today, but I thought originally this issue also fell under -- this target fell under this issue.  Is that not correct, Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  Having a little trouble reading, but I think it was always the position of OEB Staff and OPG that we didn't need to change the wording here.

The question was whether the proceeds of asset sales count as other revenue, if I can put it that way, and could at least in theory serve as an offset to the revenue requirement.  So for that reason, no one was suggesting we had to change the words.  But the dispute was more around whether this sub issue falls within that.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Let's just parse this down.  I don't see any dates with this issue.  I don't see any periods of time associated with this, like during the custom IR period or anything.  I don't see from 2022 to 2026.  Is that an omission or was that intentional?  

MR. MILLAR:  I should let Mr. Smith respond, certainly, but I think OPG's assumption would be that anything on the issues list is with respect to 2022 to 2026.  And frankly, I'm not sure staff disagrees with that.

MS. DUFF:  Fair enough.  No.  And I see -- so in this asset that we're talking about, is it nuclear business?

MR. MILLAR:  I think it relates to both the hydro and the nuclear, and I think in fact some of it is unregulated too --


MS. DUFF:  Well, and that's really where I wanted to get at.  Is this issue properly stated, given -- and I know that we approved an issues list, but it was on some understanding.  So I only see the word nuclear.  I don't see the word unregulated business or unprescribed asset.  And I'm just wondering if this issue is sufficient to address this issue regardless of the DVA as being pursued or considered by OEB Staff?

MR. MILLAR:  So I'll let Mr. Smith address this as well, but actually, that's a very good question, Ms. Duff.  It probably should say nuclear and hydro, at least with, again, other issues generally -- other revenues -- the only other revenue we're interested in talking about today is the proceeds from this asset sale.  A portion of it, as I understand, is allocated to nuclear.  I think a portion is allocated to hydro, and if I'm wrong about that then we don't even really need to discuss that.  Mr. Smith will correct me.  But I also understand a part of it is allocated to the unregulated business.

We're not interested in the funds related to the unregulated business, it's just the parts that are allocated to hydro and nuclear, and if it's all nuclear, that's fine, but maybe we should have been a little bit more careful when we said that it's governed by 11.1 to note that, you know, a portion of the sale may in fact be related to the hydro business.

MS. DUFF:  I have one more question, and then I'll let Mr. Smith respond in total.  So when the OEB issued its decision in EB-2016-0152, it does so with respect to prescribed assets, regulated assets.  Does it issue a rate order for unregulated assets?

MR. MILLAR:  I'm not sure what you mean about unregulated -- for example, this asset is certainly recovered -- the portion of this asset that is allocated to the hydro or nuclear business is certainly recovered through OPG's revenue requirement.  I don't want to speak for OPG, but in Staff's view that means that this asset is regulated to the extent that those costs are covered by ratepayers.  It is not listed as a prescribed asset in the regulation, but those are just the generating facilities themselves.  So OPG recovers money from a lot of things that are not -- then sells the generating facilities.  They would -- anyways, I won't list them, but there are lots of things that are not the generating facilities themselves that they recover costs for for the revenue requirement, and that would include this asset.

MS. DUFF:  So in your opinion, the relevance of the decision, the final rate order that was issued by the Board regarding 2021 rate year, is there any consideration that  -- or should the Board be concerned or turn its mind to the fact that the asset in question is not regulated?

MR. MILLAR:  So first, I don't accept that the asset is not regulated.  OPG is recovering costs for that asset through its revenue requirement in 2021.  OPG may say it is not listed as a prescribed asset, which is true, but there are lots of things OPG recovers costs for, and in staff's who are therefore regulated, that are not listed as prescribed assets.

MS. DUFF:  And this activity, this potential sale of this asset, was that information available to the Panel?  This was -- it was nothing that was known at the time, it just wasn't brought forward to the hearing, this is like a subsequent event, this concept, this potential, after the Board issued its decision; is that correct?

MR. MILLAR:  So we've gone back, and look, I can't find any reference to the potential for a sale of this asset on the 2017 -- it's 2016-0152, I think is the file number.  I can't find any reference to it there.  And I also believe you can look -- OPG recovers the costs associated with this asset all the way through 2021, so presumably it was not expecting a sale, maybe not at all, but not prior to 2022, in any event.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Mr. Smith, did you want to address my comments, and then I see Commissioner Sardana has his hand up, so -- sorry --


MR. SMITH:  So --


MS. DUFF:  -- perhaps you can address just for continuity address the comments of Mr. Millar on that.

MR. SMITH:  So let me take a step back.  The asset in question, it's not simply that the asset is not enumerated in Schedule, I think it's 2 to the regulation.  The asset in question is not in OPG's rate base and has never been in OPG's rate base.  It is an asset that is used by the nuclear business, the hydro business, and OPG's unregulated business.  And as a result of the regulated use of that asset there is an asset service fee.  That asset service fee is functionally no different, we say, than if an asset were leased.  So that is the regulatory construct from our perspective.

Turning back to the issue 11.1 and its clarity or not -- and I don't have any specific wording in mind, but certainly as a result of discussions between the parties, it was understood that the debate that was going to take place between -- or may take place between the parties at the end of the day was whether or not the sale of an asset that is not in rate base can be or should be attributed to customers.  That's the issue that we were all on the same page in relation to, and that may not have been appropriately translated to you folks.  But that is the narrow issue, and it is the issue that we anticipate joining issue with our friends about at the end of this proceeding.

So in a nutshell, if an asset that is shared and does not form part of rate base is sold, is it appropriate for the Board to attribute any portion of that, and obviously we would never say the unregulated portion, but any portion of that, to customers, yes or no.

The issue that has arisen is not a disagreement between my friend and I about whether or not that's a debate that we will have.  The issue is about whether or not if the sale takes place in 2021 whether those amounts should be encumbered, to use his words, or not.  Or if we were into -- you know, if the proverbial ship has sailed, no idea whether that's going to be an issue or not, because I don't know if it's going to be sold or not.  But that's the narrow issue that we're talking about.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  Mr. Millar, is there anything?
Continued Reply Submissions by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  Only very briefly, Madam Chair, because I don't think it's relevant to this discussion.  I just want to point out that Mr. Smith's and OPG's position that an asset service fee is akin to a lease as opposed to it being a rate base is not accepted by Staff and I think other parties, but I don't think we need to have that discussion now.  I just wanted to point out that is not Staff's view.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  Mr. Sardana, did you want to proceed with your questions?

MR. SARDANA:  Sure.  Thank you.  And I just wanted to clarify something, Mr. Smith.  It's really what we're talking about here -- obviously we're talking about an asset sale, et cetera, but really it's the revenue-requirement consequence that arises from that asset fee that's at question, right, because if suppose OPG sells the asset in 2021, the revenue requirement for that fee associated with that is already in OPG's revenue requirement that ratepayers are paying for now, but the asset is gone, and really, that's -- and I'm just trying to clarify that for myself.  It's really the revenue-requirement consequence of that fee that's at the crux of the matter here.  Am I right in that or am I opening up a new can of worms?

MR. SMITH:  Well, so two responses to that.  Let me just make sure I've got this right.  I don't think we're talking about that for this reason.  The first is, as I understand my friend's position, what they're asking for is an attribution to customers of a gain on sale.  So it is not an issue of a revenue requirement associated with that asset in 2021 that they are specifically concerned with, nor do I think they would be because from a materiality perspective, the asset service fee for 2021 is not material.  So that's not what's being engaged here.  It's a gain on sale debate.

MR. SARDANA:  Thank you for that.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Millar, did you have any comments in reply to the statement?

MR. MILLAR:  No, I actually agree with Mr. Smith on that point.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Sardana, do you have any more questions?

MR. SARDANA:  Not at this time.  Thanks.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Janigan?

MR. JANIGAN:  Not from me.

MS. DUFF:  I think that concludes the consideration of that issue on this motion today.

On that note, are there any other preliminary matters?  I do have a question for Mr. Smith, but I'll let you go first.

MR. SMITH:  I understand the information you had been asking for will be filed later today.

MS. DUFF:  I don't want to put you on the spot, Mr. Smith, but I do have a question.  Understanding the O.Regs., which you're asking the Board to approve the maintenance.  I had this conversation with Mr. Keizer on Tuesday.  Just why is the Board approving the freezing of the hydroelectric rates for five years, why do we need to do that.

And you saying you provided the answer to that, that's fine.  It made me wonder what does it mean by maintain.  What happens during the next five years with respect to certain off-ramps or the Board's ability to declare rates interim, the Board's ability to review rates if there is more than a 300-basis-point excess over the Board approved ROE.

Have you considered whether this approval that you're asking would somehow limit the Board's ability with respect to those two mechanisms in particular?  Do you want to think about that and provide a response?  I would appreciate to hear your comments.

MR. SMITH:  I think it would be prudent, to use a regulatory word, for me to take some time to consider those questions and provide you with a proper response rather than to do it on the fly.

So I don't know what the timing is that you're looking for, but I do think that we should give you a considered response in relation to that.

MS. DUFF:  And on that note, this really is our last chance.  For the Panel, this is our last opportunity we had in the schedule prior to moving into the settlement.  We have a decision obviously on these motions we have to decide and I realize there is -- I had uncertainty.

Mr. Millar, do you have any suggestions about how best to deal with this question?

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, if OPG wished to give it a bit of thought and respond, we can always mark it as an undertaking or something -- or frankly, if OPG just indicates that they are going to file a letter, if that's acceptable to the Board, I don't think we need to mark it if that's what they are offering do.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Is that acceptable, Mr. Smith?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, it is.

MS. DUFF:  There is no particular time frame.  It's just from your perspective, I'm most interested in what if something were to happen in the intervening period.  Are you saying maintain, is that it, there is no opportunity for the Board to declare rates interim during that period and there would be no opportunity for the Board to have any regulatory review triggered by an excess of 300 basis points with respect to the hydroelectric generating facilities?  Is that clear?

MR. SMITH:  I understand the request.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much.  A letter is fine.  I look forward to that.  I appreciate it.

With that, are there any other comments or concerns from any of the parties?  Hearing none, thank you very much.

It's been a productive day and that is the conclusion of Motions Day.  Thank you very much.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you have a pleasant long weekend.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much, Panel.  
---  Whereupon the hearing concluded at 12:30 p.m.
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